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Appendix 1         Fortifications on and near Jury’s Hill 
 

1. Kaipopo 
This pā was hastily built, in no more than a day or two, by Māori fighters from Taranaki,  
to overlook the Ōmata Stockade and command the Ōmata Road. It may have been still 
under construction when the Battle of Waireka commenced (28 March 1860).  
It was over-run by Capt. Cracroft RN and 60 sailors and marines, at the conclusion of the battle. 
 

George Jupp assisted in demolishing the fortification.         Jupp’s Diary 30 March 1860 

 
 
The dual nature of Kaipopo 
It is curious to note that in his diary entry above, Jupp refers to finding two pā . 
Grayling also refers to two pa, on p83 of his book The War in Taranaki during the years 1860-61: 
 
 

“The stockade marked Pa is that from which Captain Cracroft took the flag, its rear being 
protected by another, situated in the bend of the road that wends towards the sea shore…” 
 

Grayling appears to be referring to Sutton Rd. as the site of this second component of Kaipopo. 
 
Penn The Taranaki Rifle Volunteers 1909 provides a 
map which does indeed show rifle pits just inside the 
bend of Sutton Rd.  
 
Detail from Penn’s map 

 
Grayling again refers to the dual nature of Kaipopo when he describes in his diary the location of the  
Waireka Redoubt as being “between the two old sets of rifle pits”. 
 

“…Shortly after the soldiers were seen ascending Armstrong’s hill1 on the top of which between the 
two old sets of rifle pits they pitched their tents…”                       Grayling’s Diary July 27 Puke Ariki Archive 
 

Reference to Penn’s map (above) confirms that this perfectly describes the location of the redoubt. 
 
 

Together with Jupp’s comments, the following descriptions make it fairly clear that the Kaipopo pā 
was not a palisaded stockade, but merely a flag pole, a roughly constructed fence across the front, 
and some “rifle pits” or trenches, some of which were covered with boards. 

  
7 April 1860 
Taranaki Herald  

 
Military historian Alexander noted: 
 

“…On examining the ground afterwards I was particularly impressed with the strength of the 
position of the pah, and the easy manner of retreat in the rear...”     
                                                                                    Incidents of the Maori War 1863 Sir James Alexander p.121            

 
1 Armstrong’s Hill is now normally referred to as “Jury’s Hill” or “Waireka Hill”.  

Grayling is alluding here to the  fact that Armstrong was, at the time, farming the seaward side of the hill.  
(see “Armstrong’s turnip field”    Carrington,  Taranaki Herald 7 April 1860). 
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Rev. Thomas Gilbert was at Kaipopo on the morning of the fight and nervously took note of what he 
saw. He recorded his impressions of the Kaipopo fortification: 
 

“I saw how they had burrowed into the earth; first covering their square holes with rails, doors, and 
boards, and then putting the earth thrown out over them.  
Here, doubtless, they intended to take refuge in case of close attack, and so it proved; as I have since 
learned that a sailor had his leg cut by a native when he slipped through this roof of earth and wood. 
I observed that the entrenchments were made on the town-side of the pah only, that level ground 
surrounded it on all sides but that facing the Omata stockade.  
 

The pah itself was made of rails and posts cut from the fences near, tied with flax and some wire, 
from a wire fence close at hand, occasionally twisted in.  
I did not view it as a very formidable affair, but ugly and forbidding enough in its commanding 
position – especially as a steep hill must be ascended to get to it from the road.”    
                                                                                                      Soldiers and Settlers    Rev. Thomas Gilbert p104 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All of these fragments of information have been summed up by Nigel Prickett, to form the only 
picture we have today: 
 

“…there was no stockade, the defence depending on rifle pits and trenches, supplemented….by a 
low fence.” And “…Kaipopo where rifle pits faced New Plymouth, the rear being open.”     
            Prickett, N.J. (2008) The Military Engagement at Katikara 4 June 1863 Auckland Museum 45:5–41  p.37 

(Together with the second and separate set of rifle pits a short distance away, protecting the rear.) 
 

Kaipopo was sited near the top of Jury’s Hill, between the summit of the hill and the historic   
Ōmata cemetery below. It was on the seaward side of what was then Ōmata Road, about opposite 
the site of the cottage of Mrs. Jury (of which there is also no trace today).  
As a matter of interest, the Māori fighters made use of Mrs. Jury’s house at the time, possibly as a 
field hospital, as related many years later by militiaman Joseph Hawken to historian W. Seffern: 
 

“The natives said the soldiers were all fools. They were only after the flag, whereas if they had only 
looked about, they might have killed scores of wounded Maoris who were lying close at hand in 
Jury’s house, from which place they could not possibly get away”.                        The Budget 10 July 1897 

 
Evidently when Jupp (in his diary) recorded a party from Ōmata Stockade destroying “two” pā on 30 
March 1860, this did not include filling in the rifle pits, as they were reported being filled in by British 
soldiers in August 1860. 
 

 

 
Taranaki Herald 18 August 1860             

 
 
 

Cropped from an aerial photograph 
 
Archaeology of a Military Frontier Prickett p 67    

 
 
 
 

 
Today there are no visible surface remains of Kaipopo. 
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2. Māori Rifle pits on and around Jury’s Hill dating from after the Battle of Waireka 
 

There are many descriptions of rifle pits dug by Māori in the vicinity of Jury’s Hill, during the time the 
soldiers occupied the Waireka Camp (Redoubt). (For example, see pages 13-15). 
 

The 65th and 40th had to escort prisoners to Omata and the Waireka hill, where at four hundred 
yards from Major Hutchins' redoubt the Maories had sunk rifle pits, and invested the post on 
Grayling's and Harrison's farms.                                                   Incidents in the Maori War  Alexander p 183 

 

[from the redoubt] …In a few days the Maori erected earthworks to our left front 800 yards distant, 
to our left 600 yards distant, and to our left rear about 500 yards. We took no notice of them. One 
fine morning they opened fire simultaneously from these works. We stood to arms, making no reply 
except by occasional sharpshooters from our flanking angles. The Maori fire had no effect on us.  
As our right and right front were open, we continued to draw water from the neighbouring creek 
and armed parties foraged for potatoes and vegetables coast-wise.                                                                                                                                                                                         
                                                                                              Sketch of the New Zealand War   Morgan Grace  p 50 

 

The maoris are strongly fortified in pahs, trenches and rifle pits almost on all sides of the camp, and 
it was thought that nothing would be allowed to pass without a desperate struggle ...”  
                                                                                  H. R. Richmond:   The Richmond-Atkinson Papers Vol 1 p 627 

 

Three fragments from   
Taranaki Herald 18 August 1860 
                            

                           Taranaki Herald 1 September 1860                                                
                                    Māori rifle pits destroyed. 
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After the soldiers from Waireka Camp had finished destroying the fortifications which had been 
placed around Jury’s Hill, The Taranaki Herald was able to report: 
                                                                                                                            Taranaki Herald 1 September 1860 

 
 

 
Compare the description in the right-hand paragraph (above) with the rifle pit excavated at the site 
of Mrs. Jury’s house, by J Adamson, a few pages on – and the sketch by J. R. Robins on the next page. 
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                                                         Sketch from J.R. Robins        The War in New Zealand   1863   Capt. C. Pasley 

 
 Māori covered rife pit, interior lined with fern, used also as sleeping and cooking place.  
 
Today we do not know how thoroughly the soldiers destroyed these Māori fortifications. 
 
Māori fighters re-occupied Jury’s Hill and the Waireka area in January 1861  
and recommenced to fortify.  
 
It would be difficult now to determine whether any remains are from the first or from  
the second occupation. 

Taranaki Herald 26 January 1861 

                           Taranaki Herald 16 February 1861 
                                  
                                                                                                       

 Taranaki Herald 23 February 1861 
 

“While the General was steadily making his way across the Kairau plateau, the Taranaki  
and Ngati-Ruanui Tribes on the southern section of the coast dug themselves in very strongly on the 
hills at Waireka, and completely barred the roads by a remarkably skilful system of trenches,  
rifle-pits, and stockaded pas…” 
                                                                   The New Zealand Wars and the Pioneering Period Vol 1 Cowan  p 204 
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3. Excavation of a rifle pit on the site of Mrs. Jury’s house 
 

…the house was constructed by Jesse Jury sometime circa 1847.  
After Jesse died in 1851 his widow Elizabeth Jury continued to live in the property with her family 
until 1860 when they would have moved into New Plymouth town for safety, eventually shifting to 
Nelson for the duration of the war. The house was not rebuilt after the Taranaki war, but has been 
farmed by the Jury family to the present day                                   Improving Our Condition Adamson p 164 
 

Settlers whose properties were damaged or destroyed during the war were able to claim 
compensation for their losses. Many of these claims documents till exist and they provide an 
interesting resource for the historian.                                                                              

 
John Jury filed a 
claim on behalf of his 
mother  
in which  
her property losses 
are listed. 
 

 
The house, utensils,  
livestock etc is 
itemised and valued 
(total value is  

£365.5.6) 
 
The “Nature” of their 
losses are described 
as “stolen”, 
“destroyed” or 
“damaged”  
and the  
“How Occurring” 
column attributes 
the losses to  
“by rebels”. 
There seems to be 
some crossing out 
and possible doubt 
about the claim that 
the house itself was 
“burnt” “by the 
rebels”. 
 
Statement of losses 
sustained by Elizabeth 
Jury. Taranaki Relief 
Fund Commissions, 
1861.  Archives  
New Zealand, 
Wellington, IA132. 
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A recent excavation (J Adamson) shows no evidence of the house having been burnt,  
However, at least one list of properties burned by Māori does include Mrs. Jury’s house.2  
It is most likely that the confusion arose from the fact that Māori removed the fencing wire,  
(and probably also the doors and/or some boards) -  materials which have been noted as part of the 
construction of the Kaipopo pā (March 1860). Undoubtedly the house and property was damaged. 
As a matter of fact, as has already been noted, there is a recorded recollection of Mrs. Jury’s house 
being used by Māori during the Battle of Waireka, as a field hospital for their wounded (Militiaman 
Joseph Hawken narrative, as recorded by W. H. J. Seffern and published in The Budget 10 July 1897).  
 

Later on the Military considerably further damaged the house by taking parts of it for the building of 
the Waireka Redoubt (July 1860), and it is possible that any remains may have been burned by the 
British at that time. 
Anyway, this claim on behalf of Mrs. Jury records that chains and fencing were “destroyed” “by the 
rebels” “to build Pa” – which is very much in accord with Thomas Gilbert’s recollection of how the 
Kaipopo pā was constructed just prior to the Battle of Waireka (Soldiers and Settlers  1861  p104). 
 

Until recently there was no surface evidence of exactly where Mrs. Jury’s house had been sited, on 
what is now the Waireka West Rd. Even Len Jury recalls that the paddock was referred to as 
‘Granny’s paddock” but as a child he never knew why. However in recent years the site has been 
located and an extensive archaeological survey carried out, documented by Janice Adamson in her 
University of Auckland PhD Thesis (2013) “Improving Our Condition  An Archaeology of Improvement 
in Taranaki, New Zealand  1841-1860”. Adamson was not looking for evidence of fortifications, and a 
surprise finding was the existence of trenches and rifle pits cutting though the footprint of Mrs Jury’s 
cottage. 
 

This can only suggest these entrenchments were made by Māori after the destruction of the house, 
and as parts of the house were still in existence and used in the construction of the Waireka 
redoubt, the Māori entrenchment must have been made after that. Probably not during the British 
occupation of the redoubt, as that would have been a somewhat daring undertaking, considering 
how close the entrenchment was to the redoubt (almost within point blank range!)  
More likely this entrenchment was made after January 1861, when Māori re-occupied Jury’s Hill. 
In fact it may well be one of the rifle pits referred to in The News February 7 1861 (see page 42)  
and Taranaki Herald 1 September 1860 (see page 73). 
 

 
Mrs Jury’s, Area B.  
Removing the topsoil  
on the first day of 
excavations quickly 
revealed the presence  
of artefacts, which were 
marked with a skewer 
then recorded and 
bagged. 
 
Figure 47 from 
Improving Our Condition  
Adamson p 149 

 
 

 

First evidence of an entrenchment was the pattern of concentration of artefacts found.  

 
2 See page 30. The list is from an appendix to Grayling’s The War in Taranaki During the Years 1860-61. 
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Recording of the A Horizon artefacts showed the distribution of finds to be concentrated around the 
location of potential features rather than occurring throughout the surface of the site. It was initially 
unclear how this patterning of the artefacts related to these potential features (Figure 51).  
However, this later became clear when the artefacts were concentrated within a war period Māori 
“gunfighter” rifle trench system… 
… Inter-cutting many of the postholes relating to the house were features relating to a previously 
unknown land-war period Māori rifle pit and trenching system, or “gunfighter pā” (drawn in grey in 
Figure 50). The features relating to this were clearly constructed after the house was destroyed in 
1860, and are made up of a number of interconnected rifle pits/bunkers and trenches.  
To the north east and south west of the pits and trenches were lines of palisade stakeholes.  
The rifle pits and trenches contained a high density of artefacts as a result of backfilling and this was 
the reason for the unusual finds distribution observed early on in the excavation.  
All features in Area B and B extension, including rifle pits and trenches, were excavated by hand.  
One rifle pit had a small fire scoop on its base.  
As these features associated with Māori occupation were unexpected and went beyond the 
Authority provided, permission was granted from the Historic Places Trust to continue excavation. 
Iwi were notified, who blessed the site and subsequently maintained a regular presence. 
 

 
                                                                                                        Improving Our Condition   Adamson   p150-154 
 

As an amusing aside – when excavating Mrs. Jury’s well the archaeologists  were forced eventually to 
give up, still a considerable distance short of the depth of the original well.  
This fits nicely with Morgan Grace’s anecdote describing the effort of the soldiers to dig a well in 
1860  when the redoubt was being built. As already recorded, Grace wrote:  
 

“Next day we commenced sinking wells.  We continued this operation for days. The deeper we sank, 
the drier the ground, and never once did we turn up either gravel or stone.  
The soldiers began to think that the devil was in the country.  They had never seen the like before. 
Finally the Engineers declared the land waterless, and the fatigue party broke off this work”.                                                                                          
                                                                                                      Sketch of the New Zealand War   Grace p42 
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Figure 65 below shows the final state of the excavation in Areas B and B ext., with the layout of the 
pit and trench system.  

The fortification consists of a 
series of rifle pits which are 
connected with trench systems 
to allow movement between 
the pits. An escape trench, to 
the left of the image, curves 
around, intersecting with the 
square fire feature. This trench 
then connects to an escape 
trench around the site of the 
well, in the lower left of the 
image. An alignment of 
postholes relating to a palisade 
row can be seen in front of the 
rifle pits. In the top left of the 
image the trench divides 
leading to the left to another 
bunker at the rear, and to the 
right to another firing position.  
The pit in centre right of the 

image, to the left of the spoil heap, has a step down into it from the escape trench. This can be seen 
in more detail in Figure 66. The pit and trench system extends further in the direction of the road, 
probably in order to protect the thoroughfare, and also extends into the storage pits in Area D, 
where it seems to stop. 

 
                                                                                                                   Improving Our Condition   Adamson   pp 171-2 
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Figure 66 Mrs Jury’s, partially excavated 
rifle pit feature 97.14, looking northwest, 
showing steps down into the bunker from 
the escape trench, shown in the centre left, 
also partly excavated.  
Excavation of the palisade row is 
continuing in the top right of the image.  
The square postcast and posthole in the 
upper centre right of the image relate to 
the house. 
 
Most of the wood was found in the base of 
the rifle pits, and this was probably left 
over from the house destruction and later 
used by Māori to cover the pits for 
protection. Some of this wood has been 
burned. Two fired percussion caps were 
recovered, but it is not known whether any 
fighting occurred on the site. As described 
previously, there are no contemporary 
accounts of the features being used 
actively in defence. However Iwi oral 
traditions, mentioned when blessing the 
site occurred after discovery, describe the 

pits protecting women and children until they could escape (Reverend Albie Martin pers. comm. 12 
December 2007), but there is little archaeological evidence to either particularly support or negate 
this. One rifle pit did have a small fire scoop in the base indicating Māori occupation of at least one 
pit for a short period of time (Feature 97.15).  
 
As described above, most of the artefacts relating to the house, such as ceramics, glass, nails etc, 
were recovered from the rifle pit and trench features, and it is probable that this was due to a 
cleanup process when the gunfighter pā was destroyed and the pits and trenches were filled.  
 
The Māori trench system built in the strategic position across the footprint of Mrs Jury’s house was 
probably a statement of possession. Similarly, the backfilling of the trenches and restoration of the 
land after the war, likely to have been carried out by members of the Jury family and local 
community, was probably a statement of re-possession.                                                                                                                                  
                                                                                                                   Improving Our Condition   Adamson   pp 174-5 

The full text of this thesis of J Adamson may be found at: 
https://www.academia.edu/11857858/_Improving_Our_Condition_An_Archaeology_of_Improveme
nt_in_Taranaki_New_Zealand_1841-1860 
 

At the end of 1860, southern Māori returned to Tapuae Ridge, digging rifle-pits by the road through 
remains of Mrs Jury’s house that was destroyed earlier in the war (Adamson 2008). A skirmish at 
Waireka on 23 February 1861 may have involved these rifle-pits (Prickett 2005: 116).  
Rifle-pits revealed in January 2008 archaeological excavations by Janice Adamson include a line of 
square pits connected by a trench, with escape trenches to the rear  
(Adamson 2008; Prickett 2010: 89).    Under pasture; more will exist than has so far been uncovered.  
                                                                                           Fortifications of the New Zealand Wars  Prickett  p 153 
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4. Waireka Redoubt 
 

The Waireka Redoubt (sometimes referred to as Waireka Camp, or Soldiers’ Camp) was established 
on Friday 27 July 1860, at the top of Jury’s Hill (sometimes known as Waireka Hill).  
 

It was placed a little above the site of the Kaipopo pā which had been the Māori defensive position 
on Jury’s Hill in the Battle of Waireka (28 March 1860). 
 

  
According to Morgan Grace (A sketch of the New Zealand War p 53) the redoubt was demolished six 
weeks later on 7 September 1860, when it was no longer needed and British troops were withdrawn 
to New Plymouth.  
 

Grace’s memory is occasionally inventive. Were the trenches also filled in at that time?  
If the British did not destroy the trenches in 1860, then they certainly should have, because  
in January 1861 the Māori forces re-occupied Waireka and were reported in the Taranaki Herald 
(January 19 1861) to have been “employed digging rifle pits on Waireka Hill.” 

 
This piece suggests that the Māori had 
entrenched themselves either on top of, or 
very close to the site of the Waireka 
Redoubt. Either the Waireka trenches had 
been destroyed by the British – or the  
Māori would surely have put them to their 
own use in January 1861.  
Were the Māori treated to a ready-made 
abandoned set of trenches in 1861?  
 

Taranaki Herald 20 April 1861  
 

This raises the question of whether the 
remains which can be seen now are the 
remains of the original Waireka Redoubt, or 
a new set of trenches, dug when the British 
re-occupied the site on 11 March 1863.  
 

The redoubt in 1863:                
                                                                                                     
 

Archaeology of a 
Military Frontier 
Prickett pp 67-8        
 
 
 
 

 
 
Taranaki Herald 
5 February 1908 
 
 
 

The redoubt today:                                                  

 “Under pasture, in good order and highly visible; outstanding example of a classic redoubt form”.   
                                                                                         Fortifications of the New Zealand Wars   Nigel Prickett  p 153 
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                      (Taken from: Improving Our Condition - An Archaeology of Improvement in Taranaki,  

                                                                                                        New Zealand 1841-1860   Janice Adamson) 
 

Jury’s Hill. 
 

Aerial photograph by Hans-Dieter Bader 17 March 2006. 
Looking east, showing the outline of the Waireka Camp in the centre of the image, the only 
remaining visible relic of the fighting which took place in this area during the 1860s,  
and now protected as a historic site. 
 

Stationed at the Waireka redoubt in 1861, Morgan Grace wrote:  
“…In a few days the Maori erected earthworks to our left front 800 yards distant, to our left 600 
yards distant, and to our left rear about 500 yards. We took no notice of them. One fine morning 
they opened fire simultaneously from these works. We stood to arms, making no reply except by 
occasional sharpshooters from our flanking angles. The Maori fire had no effect on us. As our right 
and right front were open, we continued to draw water from the neighbouring creek and armed 
parties foraged for potatoes and vegetables coast-wise…” 
 

The redoubt was an earth work, partly palisaded with timber taken from the cemetery at the bottom 
of the hill (see page 9). A little stream runs through the steep gully in the top middle of the 
photograph above. Len Jury believes the redoubt garrison obtained their water from this stream.    

 
There is a plaque on the side of the road  
at the corner of Sutton Rd and Waireka Rd. West. 
 
It reads:  
 

 
 
Photo Len Jury 
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5. St Patrick’s Redoubt (Poutoko)  
 

 
 

 
The remains are visible in this 1950s photograph.           Today a house occupies the site. 
 

 
 
 
Taranaki Herald 14 March 1863 
 
(Refers to Thursday 12 March 1863) 
 
The establishment of St Patrick’s  
(Poutoko) Redoubt on what was  
Wilkinsons’s farm. 
 
It was abandoned in March 1864 when a 
blockhouse was erected a little further south. 
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The full text of Prickett’s 1981 PhD Thesis  
The Archaeology of a Military Frontier: Taranaki, New Zealand, 1860-1881  Vol 1  
may be downloaded from https://researchspace.auckland.ac.nz/handle/2292/1514 
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            The Archaeology of a Military Frontier: Taranaki, New Zealand, 1860-1881 Prickett pp102-107 

 
A house on Waireka West Road now occupies the site of St. Patrick’s Redoubt. 
There are no remains to be seen. 
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6.  Ōmata Stockade 
 

The site of the Ōmata Stockade is about 2km from Jury’s Hill. It was built by local settlers just prior to 
the outbreak of war, and garrisoned by the local militia.  
 

 
                                                                           Drawing taken from Major-General Sir James E. Alexander, 1861 
 

The stockade was constructed of vertical timbers, either whole trunks of small trees or split parts of 
large ones, and were sunk 3 feet to 4 feet (1 – 1.2m) in the ground. The height of the solid timber 
wall so formed was 10 feet (3m). The timbers were roughly trimmed with the axe to bring them as 
close together as possible and to remove any knots outside which might assist an enemy to scale the 
stockade.  
 

The small spaces left between the logs were covered inside with an upright row of thick slabs. The 
tops of the timbers were sawn off straight, and sawn battens, 6 inches broad by 3 inches thick, 
(150mm x 75mm) were laid along the top and fastened to the stockade with 7-inch (180mm) spike 
nails. The average thickness of the heavy timbers was about 12 inches (300mm), and the whole was 
proof against musket-balls, and against rifle-balls except at very close range. A row of loopholes was 
cut all round about 5 feet (1.5m) above the inside floor, and there was a double row in the two small 
flanking bastions. These bastions were of two storeys each loopholed on all four sides. 
 

The lower part was a sleeping-apartment; the upper was a post for sentries at night and in bad 
weather. The roof of each bastion was clear of the wall-plate, and was made to project about a foot 
beyond the wall of the building. This arrangement admitted of the sentries keeping a good lookout 
all round, and at the same time protected them from the weather. It also allowed of firing through 
the spaces between the roof and the wall-plate when more convenient to do so (as was often the 
case at long range) than through the loopholes.  
 

The deep and wide ditch was crossed by a drawbridge which had a span of 10 feet and worked on 
strong hinges; by ropes fastened to its front edge and running through blocks on top of the inner 
posts it was lifted up perpendicularly at night. The entrance-gate was made of two thicknesses of 
timber, each 2½ inches (65mm) thick, and strongly fastened with spike nails riveted. This formed a 
solid door 5 inches (130mm) thick. Around the inner walls were built the garrison's quarters, leaving 
an open courtyard in the middle of the stockade. The loopholes were cut at such an elevation as 
enabled the men to use their rifles clear of the roof, and also to cover any object down to the 
bottom of the ditch, as well as from the outer edge of the ditch down the glacis, and everywhere 
around the stockade.  
 

Outside, on the inner edge of the trench, stood the signal-staff, worked from within the building. It 
was a single tree, 60 feet (18m) long, sunk 6 feet (2m) in the ground, and secured by stays and guys. 
                                                                           The New Zealand Wars and the Pioneering Period    Cowan   pp 167-9 
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                                                                                                                                            Ōmata Stockade 
                                                                                                                                            Historic Reserve 
                                                                                                                                            photo 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Archaeological 
excavations were 
carried out at the 
Ōmata  Stockade 
from 3 January to  
13 February 1977. 
 
Archaeological 
Excavations at the 
Omata Stockade and 
Warea Redoubt, 
Taranaki 
Nigel Prickett 
P 19 
 

 
… demolished in 1867 (Prickett 1994a: 13–16).  
The old pā platform was modified for a rectangular timber stockade, 19.3 ×12.8 m, with bastions at 
two opposite corners covering all sides; an open yard was enclosed by lean-to building for guard 
room, magazine, hospital, store and accommodation; outside the stockade was a steep scarp to  
a V-shaped ditch.                                                            Fortifications of the New Zealand Wars   Prickett p150 
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APPENDIX 2   22 April 1860  Col. Gold’s Expedition South      
                                                                                                                     

(From our Correspondent at the Camp.)  
On Sunday three companies of the 65th in light 
marching order, with 2 guns and 2 ammunition 
waggons, 2 ambulance carts, and 1 cart with 
provisions, made a reconnoissance as far as Wareatea. 
Komene's3 pa was seen about 3 miles inland,  
but no natives were observed.  
 

On Monday a party were employed in thrashing out 
the Tataraimaka wheat, destroying the crops of natives 
engaged at Waireka.  
 

On Tuesday the troops still remained encamped at 
Tataraimaka employed in thrashing  

Mr. Greenwood's wheat and getting wood and potatoes.  
 

Wednesday the weather was very unfavourable, the troops remained under cover.  
 

On Thursday at 6 a.m. struck tents, and at 7 the whole force moved on towards Wareatea.  
The light company of the 65th, and a portion of the naval brigade, under Captain Seymour, furnished 
the advanced guard; Captain Vernon and his blue jackets bunging up the rear.  
The forces arrived at Wareatea at about 4 p.m. Captain Seymour and a few mounted men entered 
Komene's pa, when Mr G. Lethbridge found the saddle of our murdered townsman Mr Ford! 4 
A reconnoitring party, headed by Captain Seymour, consisting of the light company of the 65th  Regt., 
and a party of blue jackets proceeded to the mill in the vicinity of which about 30 armed natives 
were seen, who, however, deemed discretion the better part of valour and cut across the river to 
the inland pa. This pa is about 2 miles inland on the town side of the mill stream, situated in the 
forest apparently on a cliff with a swamp on the seaward side. The party rendered the mill useless by 
removing a portion of the iron work and some cogs from the wheels.  
 

Friday morning the pa was pulled down, the houses destroyed and a quantity of wheat and oats 
scattered about. The forces marched at 8 o'clock for Warea.                 Taranaki Herald 28 April 1860 
 

(From our Correspondent at the Camp.)     
I now continue my narrative of the march of the force under Colonel Gold to the southward from 
Komene's pa. 
 

Friday, 27th April, 1860. At about 8 a.m. the tents were struck and the combined force paraded,  
and as soon as the teams were yoked to, the advance sounded. Shortly afterwards the Cordelia and 
Tasmanian Maid hove in sight, and a boat landed from the Cordelia, which was sent back and 
returned with a supply of tobacco for the troops. The light company of the 65th furnished the 
skirmishers, then followed Captain Seymour, R.N., and the men of the Pelorus, two howitzers, the 
ammunition and baggage, the flanking parties of soldiers protected the convoy, and Commander 
Vernon R. N., and the Cordelia's blue jackets formed the rear guard, following two nine-pounder 
guns.  
The road running through a level country, Mokotunu was speedily reached. Some horses and  
7 working bullocks belonging to the rebel natives were driven in and yarded by the mounted guides, 
and the train moved on steadily, the skirmishers forcing their way through flax considerably above 

 
3 Komene, present as a fighter at most of the battles of the First Taranaki War, was one of the Taranaki Chiefs who helped    

Brown to recover the bodies of the two boys who were killed just prior to the Battle of Waireka. (Taranaki Herald  
9 August 1862).  Later, after the first Taranaki hostilities had ended, Komene left the Māori resistance forces and  
 aligned himself to the British. An interesting obituary for Komene was printed in Taranaki Herald 10 June 1902. 

4 Ford was one of the three men and two boys from Ōmata whose killing led to the Battle of Waireka. 
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then heads, until the flagstaff of the Warea pa was sighted early in the afternoon, when the halt 
sounded. The Commanding Officer and Staff passed to the front to reconnoitre.  
Natives were seen in the pa by the guides, who, having ventured somewhat in advance of the 
troops, were saluted by a volley from the pa. The guns quickly came to the front, and opened fire at 
about 300 yards, whereupon the natives were seen to evacuate the pa, which was shortly 
afterwards taken possession of by Captain Seymour and his bluejackets and a company of the 65th 
regiment. On searching the houses a slate was found on which was inscribed the names of 21 
natives, supposed to have been present at the morning's muster.  
Subsequently, their footsteps were traced by the guides two miles inland in the direction of 
Komene's pa in the forest. The combined force re-crossed the river, and an earthwork was thrown 
up on the river side of an old pa, in which the tents were pitched on a kumera ground, and  
culminary operations were the older of the day.  
A yard was formed on the other side of the pa with the baggage train, in which the unfortunate 
bullocks were doomed to starve until morning. Orders were then given to fire the pa, which were 
promptly executed, and as each house contained a store of firewood, the conflagration spread 
rapidly, and continued throughout the night. At sunset a strong guard and outlying pickets provided 
against surprise and the wearied men soon sunk to repose. During the afternoon the guides brought 
in a number of mares and foals and endeavoured to ascertain the site of the mill. The mill could not 
be found, and every person consulted as to its whereabout, assigned a different locality.  
 

Early on Saturday the guides proceeded up both banks of the river about 3 miles, but failed to 
discover the mill. At about nine the tents were struck and the homeward march commenced, the 
teams travelling nimbly. The houses at Mokotunu were levelled to the ground and the march 
continued without obstruction.  
The guides filed five stacks of wheat about three miles inland, and drove in some horses.  
No obstruction was experienced until reaching the sand hills near Komene's pa, when the 
skirmishers descried a party of natives and fired at them at a distance of 800 yards, and one man 
was seen to fall as if wounded. The force then crossed the Hangatahua river, in which a cart laden 
with ammunition came to grief. The guides proceeded inland in search of cattle and horses, and, 
failing to head a swamp, endeavoured to cross it, when one of the horses got fairly bogged, and 
whilst they were busily employed, a party of Natives fired about 20 shots at them from the 
surrounding scrub.  
Sauve qui peut was the order of the day, and the dismounted trooper was taken up by Mr George 
Lethbridge, the horse being left to his fate. After galloping a quarter of a mile, a guide was 
ascertained to be missing, and one of the party pushed on for assistance.  
This was speedily obtained; and Capt. Turner, with a party of the 65th, and Commander Vernon, with 
his blue jackets, proceeded to within 10 chains of the spot where the guides were attacked, where 
they halted, and the guides went up and found the old horse lying at its ease uninjured, and a smart 
application of the whip very soon effected his extrication, in the interim, the missing man turned up 
in the centre of the line of march. Whilst the foregoing was in progress, a false alarm by the  
aide-de-camp, that the force sent to the rescue was hotly engaged with the enemy, caused a general 
halt and a party to be sent in support, who found Captain Turner's and Commander Vernon's men 
quietly trudging on in their places in the line.  
 

Nothing worthy of notice happened after this; the cattle moved briskly along towards the rich 
pastures of Tataraimaka, which were reached early in the afternoon. The tents were pitched, and 
the force rested Sunday, it being resolved to occupy the block with three companies of the 65th   
and two guns, and return to town with the remainder of the force.  
 

No doubt the public will be disappointed at the result of this expedition, which has effected so little 
in comparison with what was expected from it. As an eye-witness, I have no hesitation in saying that 
all that could prudently be attempted was done. The nature of the country inland precludes an 
attack of the forest stronghold by regulars totally unacquainted with the ground, the difficulties of 
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which must be seen to be appreciated. Even the man Howard, who has been residing with the rebels 
for years past, either was, or pretended to be, totally at fault as to which gullies and wooded ravines 
could be headed or passed; and I am fully convinced that if the Commander had attempted to march 
the troops up to the pa without reconnoitring the country, they would have been entangled in a 
labyrinth of scrub and gullies, and completely at the mercy of an attacking force, who, securely 
concealed, could have decimated the columns. If, on the other hand, the reconnoissance had 
proceeded, the rebels would have vacated their pa; it would have been destroyed, and its occupants 
would probably have fallen back on Wiremu Kingi. Is the capture of an empty pa worth the risk that 
would be encountered to reach it ? I think not; and so apparently thought the Commander.  
 

In my humble opinion, a guerilla warfare is the only one which will succeed against the rebels, and 
this must be carried on by a mounted force of Riflemen ; the horses merely serving to transport their 
riders to the place of attack, where the force must dismount, leaving every fifth man to look after 
five horses, whilst the rest proceed to harass the rebels in every possible manner, firing their coast 
pas, sweeping off their cattle and horses, throwing down their fences, trampling their crops under 
foot, or turning in the captured cattle. Such a force would require no commissariat or baggage train, 
merely a few led horses with spare ammunition, and if properly led, such would be the rapidity of its 
movements that the enemy would be worn out by constant watching to resist its attacks.  
To question the capacity of our leader requires abler tacticians than most of those so ready to 
criticise his conduct. As a Volunteer who has been under fire as warm as any the gallant Riflemen 
and Taranaki Militia have yet experienced, I may venture to assert that even they would be found 
unequal to the task of attacking a pa in the forest in an unknown locality. I believe the bushmen are 
a match for the Maories in the forest where they are acquainted with the country, but placed on 
terra incognita, a raupo swamp, or impassable ravine, would place them completely at the mercy of 
an enemy thoroughly conversant with every inch of the ground. Whether what I have written 
pleases or displeases I care little. I am a volunteer; I am proud of the achievements of my fellow-
townsmen, although I have not had the luck to be in action with them, and, consequently, lay no 
claim to their laurels. I know they are brave men, to whom I may safely appeal and ask if it is 
generous to condemn the officer in command for not effecting the capture of a forest stronghold in 
a country such as I have described.  
 

The feeling which at present exists between the military and volunteer and militia force, and which 
has been fostered by an imbecile who has perpetrated a pamphlet intended to vindicate the conduct 
of the military commander at Waireka, but which directly tends to overwhelm him with shame, 
displaying, as it does, a total ignorance of the locality, a shameless regard of truth, and portraying a 
degree of poltroonery which that veteran officer must blush with indignation to have attributed to 
him and the gallant fellows under his command. That feeling, in fact, is unworthy of the volunteers, 
admitting that their ground of complaint is a just one, what deeper censure do they desire to see 
inflicted on the commander at Waireka, for an error of judgment, for aught they know, not justly 
attributable to him, than that passed by the unfettered New Zealand, and free press of Australia ? 
What graver punishment than the attempted vindication of his conduct by the imbecile5 non-
combatant in language at variance with truth, regardless of Lindley Murray, and replete with low 
scurrility and slang expressions. The British public will contrast the tone of this miserable pamphlet 
with the quiet gentlemanlike narratives of " M "and Volunteer, and I tremble at the decision it will 
arrive at. Better, ten thousand times better, have trusted to a dignified silence and an impartial 
public, than have permitted "Fair Play" to traduce the military, and vindicate the volunteers. 
                                                                                                                                              Taranaki Herald 5 May 1860 

 
5 Feelings were running high. The “imbecile” the reporter refers to in his closing paragraph was “Fair Play” who 

anonymously published a pamphlet deriding the Volunteers and Militia, and completely vindicating Colonel Gold.  
It was in response to “M” and “Volunteer” who had written lengthy letters which derided Colonel Gold.  
The army had banned Taranaki Herald from printing material such as this. The letters were, instead, sent to Nelson, 
published in The Colonist 8 May 1860 then posted back to New Plymouth for the entertainment of the settlers concerned. 
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Military historian Alexander wrote:  

It being deemed advisable to send an expedition to the south of New Plymouth to act on the 
Taranaki and Ngatiruanuis, a force was organized consisting of two hundred and eighty men of the 
65th regiment, one hundred and fifty blue jackets and marines, eighty Militia and Volunteers, forty 
Royal Artillery with two 24-pounder howitzers and four six-pounder field-pieces, also twenty Royal 
Engineers, the whole under the command of Colonel Gold, and Captain Seymour, R.N. 
Accompanying this expedition were thirty carts laden with camp equipage, ammunition, stores of 
various kinds and provisions. 
It was considered that invading the territory of the insurgents might stop marauding and murdering 
in the Taranaki. Starting at an early hour on the 20th April, the force crossed the Waireka valley  
at 11 A.M. the force encamped at Tataraimaka and a reconnoitring party with two guns was sent out 
towards Hongatahwa river, when this was reached, a strong pah was observed, and apparently 
difficult to be got at. 
The expedition took up a number of potatoes at Wairau the property of the insurgents, and thrashed 
out the Tataraimaka wheat belonging to Mr. Girdwood. After some rainy weather, the force struck 
tents and moved towards the Waireatea, 4 the Light Company, 65th, under Lieutenant Urquhart, 
and part of the Naval Brigade under Captain Seymour forming the advanced guard--Captain Vernon 
and his blue jackets bringing up the rear. Waireatea was reached, and Captain Seymour with a 
mounted party entered Komena's pah and found in it a saddle of Mr. Ford, slain at the Omata lately. 
A reconnoitring party under Captain Seymour next proceeded to a Maori mill where thirty armed 
natives had been seen, but these fled, the party rendered the mill useless by removing a portion of 
the cog wheels and iron works. 
The pah was then pulled down, and some of the houses and provisions of the natives were burnt. 
From Komena's pah Mokotura was reached, some horses and seven working bullocks of the 
insurgents were secured. The skirmishers forced their way through flax higher than their heads until 
the flag-staff of the Waieapa was sighted, when the halt was sounded and the commanding officer 
and staff went to the front to reconnoitre. Natives were seen in the pah by the guides, who 
venturing too near were saluted with a volley from the pah. The guns were ordered to the front, 
they opened at three hundred yards; the pah was soon evacuated, and then entered by the troops 
and sailors. The pah was afterwards burned with the whares in it. 
 

A number of mares and foals were captured, and the mill searched for, but it could not be found. 
The homeward march was commenced, the houses at Mokotura were levelled and the march 
resumed without obstruction. To carry out the usual practise of war (though capture but not 
destroy, should I think be adopted in future) five stacks of wheat were burned inland. Mr. Parris, the 
native commissioner, lost some wheat in this expedition, which a native had set apart as payment of 
a debt. 
 

At the sand hills near Komena's pah the skirmishers descried some natives, fired at eight hundred 
yards and one man was seen to fall. The guides in trying to cross a swamp, whilst searching for 
horses and cattle, were fired upon from the scrub. After this the force rested to refresh among the 
rich pastures of the Tataraimaka, three companies of the 65th were left there with two guns, and the 
rest of the force returned to New Plymouth, after being treated to a grand war dance by the allies 
with the usual shouts, contortions and thrusting out the tongue. 
 

The example having been set of firing pahs and houses, and destroying property, the Taranakis and 
Ngatiruanuis exacted a fearful utu or payment, on the settlers afterwards, as will appear in the 
course of the narrative. 
 

Though more was expected of the above expedition in punishing the insurgents of the south, yet 
considering the extremely difficult nature of the country, the tracks for roads, the steep gullies, the 
entangled bush, thick scrub and deep swamps, perhaps as much was done as could reasonably be 
accomplished by a force with wheeled carriages; mounted rifles with pack horses might have done a 
good deal more, but at the time they could not be got together.  Incidents of the Maori War Alexander pp128-132 
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APPENDIX 3       19 September 1860  The Expedition to Tātaraimaka                    
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                                                                                                                  Taranaki Herald 29 September 1860 

 
 

The Ngatiruanuis and Taranakis having destroyed the settlement at Tataraimaka, south of New 
Plymouth, and having erected pahs there, Major Hutchins was directed to chastise them; those were 
the tribes it will be remembered which had massacred the three men and two boys at the Omata in 
March, and had been fighting and plundering round New Plymouth. The force of Major Hutchins to 
proceed south, consisted of one hundred and fiftv-seven men of the 12th Regiment under Captain 
Miller; two hundred and seventy of the 65th under Captains Strange and Barton; seventeen men 
Royal Artillery under Captain Strover; two 24-pounder howitzers and two rocket tubes twelve and 
twenty-four lbs.; thirteen Royal Engineers under Captain Mould; sixty-eight Militia and Volunteers 
under Captain Richmond; one sergeant and ten men of the Mounted Corps, Captain Pasley, R.E., 
(staff officer) and fifty friendly natives under Mr. Good. 
 
Major Hutchins' expedition first encamped on the north bank of the Oakura river, and in the 
Tataraimaka destroyed eight pahs, some of considerable strength, after which it was intended that 
more preparations were to be made for attacking the natives posted at Kaihihi, the expedition 
therefore returned to town.                                             Incidents of the Maori War  1863 Alexander  p 196 

 
 

                                                                                              
                                                                                                       Cropped from ARC2004-306 Puke Ariki Archives 
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APPENDIX 4     9 October 1860  The Expedition to Kaihihi                  
                                                                                                                       Taranaki Herald 20 October 1860 
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Alexander wrote: 

It was in the beginning of October then, the finest time for military operations, clear and cool, and 
the ground drying up, that the expedition to the Kaihihi was undertaken by General Pratt. Its object 
was to attack three strong pahs named Puketakiriki, Orongomahangai and Mataiaio, held by the 
insurgent Maories of the Taranaki tribe, who had been so active in the work of devastation. Two of 
these pahs were on the right, and one on the left bank of the Kaihihi river, and eighteen miles from 
New Plymouth. 
 
The strength of the expedition was 1,043 rank and file. Captain Strover commanded the Royal 
Artillery, Colonel Mould the Royal Engineers, Major Hutchins the detachment, 12th Regiment; 
Captain Hare, the detachment, 40th Regiment; Captain Strange, the detachment, 65th Regiment; 
Captain Beauchamp Seymour, the Naval Brigade; the Militia were under Captain and Adjutant Stapp; 
the Mounted Escort under Captain Desvoeux, and one hundred and fifty friendly natives under Mr. 
Parris. With bullock drivers and servants the force looked formidable; and the guns consisted of one 
68-pounder, and three 24lb. howitzers; fifty carts were laden with ammunition, camp equipage, and 
baggage; the steamer "Wonga Wonga" also going down the coast with spare ammunition. 
 
The march to the south, through a very difficult country for wheels, was facilitated materially by the 
Royal Engineers, who preceded the column, levelled and filled up inequalities in the road, repaired 
bridges and worked most effectually. The first camp on the 9th October was at the Timaru river, 
Tataramaika; next day the tents were struck at half-past four, A.M., and the friendly natives were 
moved to the front as a reconnoitring party. The country consisted of table-land intersected with 
wooded gullies, and on the sea-shore lofty cliffs. 
 
By eight o'clock on the morning of the 10th October, the force had arrived within three quarters of a 
mile of the pahs, and the camp was pitched and intrenchments thrown up for its defence. The 
approaches to the pahs were next reconnoitred. The party which proceeded to the left found high 
fern and a gully impracticable for artillery, and it was fired upon from rifle pits in the bush; the fire 
was returned. The right party found open ground near the pahs. 
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General Pratt had arranged with Colonel Mould, Royal Engineers, second in command, to approach 
these pahs with a sap, to avoid the loss of life which resulted from a different course adopted in 
former wars. Accordingly at six A.M. on the 11th, a working party of two hundred and fifty-eight 
officers and men, carrying tools and gabions, and covered by a guard of one hundred and sixty-one 
officers and men, advanced in extended order, and with the necessary supports, to cover the 
working party, which commenced to throw up a parallel within two hundred and fifty yards of the 
Orongomahangai pah. This was done without interruption from the natives, who seemed at a loss 
what to make of the operations. At nine o'clock the guns were sent from the camp. At eleven the 
enemy commenced a heavy fire, and at twelve the guns replied to it. The pah was covered with 
green flax, and the shot seemed to make little impression on it. 
 
A fire from the enemy in the bush on the left front of the parallel occasioned some casualties. At 
night-fall the firing ceased on both sides, the parallel was perfected and traverses made for the 
protection of the guns. At six P.M. the day working party was relieved by seventy-five men, with a 
detachment of Royal Engineers, the whole in charge of Captain Mould, R.E., who commenced a sap 
towards the pah and which was continued during the night. At six o'clock next morning the flying sap 
was rapidly pushed ahead and widened, and defiladed under cover of a mantlette or screen, (a 
bullet proof blind between two wheels.) A strong skirmishing party was now also moved up, and a 
howitzer advanced to play on an angle of the pah, and a bag of powder was prepared to blow up 
part of the stockade, when after a shell and a charge of cannister had been thrown into a small 
breach which had been made in the palisading, the assaulting party moved up, and the enemy not 
relishing this mode of attack, evacuated the pah which was immediately taken possession of. 
 
The pah was found to be very strong with rifle pits and covered passages, there was plenty of 
potatoes inside which the troops made use of. The General, with Colonel Carey, Dep.-Adj.-Gen. now 
crossed the river and directed Mataiaio to be attacked, which was rushed with fifty men of the 65th 
and some friendly natives, and was abandoned by the enemy. 
 
An advance with infantry and guns was now made on Puketakariki which was placed on an eminence 
about three hundred yards from the first pah, a few shells were thrown into it, and the pah was 
entered and found evacuated; the pah was strong and also full of potatoes. 
 
Between the first and second pah the enemy had formed a line of rifle pits, thinking that the troops 
would advance in that way; if they had and the sap had not been made, a heavy loss of life must 
have been the consequence. The pah was covered with green flax, impenetrable to musketry and 
even offering resistance to round shot. 
 
At Mataiaio was an under-ground hospital for the wounded from the first pah, and many bloody 
evidences were observed of the enemy's loss. Between the first and second pah the rifle pits were 
most skilfully contrived, and long ropes of flax from them enabled the defenders to swing over the 
precipice to the bed of the Kaihihi, and thus escape. 
 
These pahs had the usual two rows of palisading; Orongomahangai had also behind its interior, rifle 
pits, a mound of earth seemingly of some former pah, as there were trees on it. The projectiles 
produced small effect on the stockade, bar shot might produce a better effect than spherical balls, 
and if fired in the prolongation of a face; but howitzers are useful to search rifle pits, if used with 
small charges and good elevation. 
 
It was Colonel Mould's opinion that similar strong positions, which cannot be completely invested, 
and from which there are means of escape, inaccessible to troops, may hold out for a limited time 
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and be evacuated before matters come to an extremity, but that pahs in an open country will be 
invariably left on the approach of a hostile British force. 
 
The natives must have seen, from the nature of the operations at the Kaihihi river, that it was 
impossible to hold out against a systemized attack, and thus the attack on these positions had a 
wholesome effect. 
 
The conduct of the troops of all arms was excellent, the Royal Navy, Regulars, and Militia vying with 
each other in the field and the trenches. The field-officers in the trenches, Lieutenant-Colonel Sillery, 
Deputy-quarter-master-general, and Major Hutchins, 12th regiment, took a most active and untiring 
part in the operations, both in respect of judiciously posting the guards of the trenches, and urging 
on the working parties. 
 
Among the casualties were Captain Pasley, R. E. severely wounded, also an excellent soldier, 
Sergeant Howell, R.E. From some dispatches received by General Pratt from the Governor, relating 
to a threatened attack on Auckland, he marched back to New Plymouth, the force having had four 
days of very hard work.                                                         Incidents of the Maori War Alexander pp 205-211 

 
 
 
 
Plate from  
The War in New 
Zealand  
 
C. Pasley 1863 

 
Colonel Mould 
(who made this 
plate) served at the 
time under  
General Pratt. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Thomas Mould advocated sapping and directed the Army’s first  
successful use of the tactic here, on 11 October 1860  
at Orongomaihangi.   Mould himself was wounded in this affray   
(The War in Taranaki 1860-61 Grayling p 43). 
Pratt used sapping to considerable effect the following year,  
at Te Arei in the north of New Plymouth. 
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APPENDIX 5        An attempt to locate “Burton’s Hill” in 2020       
 

Cropped from an early 
cadastral map  
(Len Jury collection) 
showing old surveyed 
routes which approximate 
to today’s roads.  
Marked in colours:  
Hurford Rd. (blue),  
Sealy Rd. (yellow),  
Barrett Rd.(red),  
Frankley Rd.(green)  
Weston Rd. (purple) 
Pheney Rd. (white)  
 

 

An enlargement shows the block 
allocated to G. R. Burton. 
 

Within the triangle comprised of 
Weston Rd., Pheney Rd. and Barrett 
Rd., a surveyor’s mark, in the form  
of a circle, is marked on this map,  
just inside the bend on Barrett Rd. 
 
This tiny circle is thought to be 
“Burton’s Hill”,  
the highest point on the ridge. 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

An enlarged “Google Map” also shows these early roads and survey lines, which were drawn on  
the old cadastral map. These old survey lines enable us to locate the position fairly accurately. 
 

It remains merely to shift the enlarged Google map to satellite mode, and confirm the location. 
Today Weston Rd. has become part of Pheney Rd., and the bottom side of the triangle  
(what used to be the start of Pheney Rd) has now gone. 
Barrett Rd. seems to have been straightened a little, and there are some road cuttings in this area 
which may have slightly altered its course. 
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                                                  Burton’s Hill                                              Photo Len Jury 
 

                                                                From the peak of Burton’s Hill to the sea 

                                                                Is a distance of approximately 4.5 km 
 
 
 
 

 
 

And standing on Jury’s Hill,      
 it is possible, with a telescope, to look back                                                                                                                                                                                                    
 and discern Barrett Rd. and Burton’s Hill.     
 

                                                                                                                                                   (telescopic photo Jim Tucker)                                                                                               
The distance from the top of Jury’s Hill to Burton’s Hill is about 3 km.            
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APPENDIX 6        Monday  4 May 1863   The Ambush at Wairau        
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                                                                                                        Taranaki Herald 9 May 1863 Journal of Events 

Following is a reprint of the Coroner’s Inquest.  
Empanelled on the jury were Arthur Atkinson and F. U. Gledhill, who we have already met. 
 

W. S. Atkinson, an elder brother of Arthur and Harry Atkinson, Crown Agent and fluent in  
te reo Māori, appeared at the inquest as an interpreter.  
(He had emigrated to New Plymouth a few years before Harry and Arthur.) 
 

Rōpata Ngārongomate, (sometimes known as “Bob Erangi”) was a “friendly” chief, from nearby 
Poutoko Pa, and the brother-in-law of Wellington Carrington. He was one of the witnesses 
 

Wellington Carrington was another witness. He lived at nearby Tapuae.  
Carrington was one of New Zealand’s earliest settlers, an early surveyor of New Plymouth,  
fluent in Māori language, and at the time attached to the Native Office. 
 

Hōne Wētere was referred to at the inquest, as an informant.  
Otherwise known as Takerei Te Rerenga, Wētere was a Ngāti Maniapoto chief located at Mōkau, 
master of the coastal trading vessel Paraninihi which at that time regularly brought supplies to New 
Plymouth.  
(On a number of occasions Wētere also brought military intelligence regarding the Māori forces.) 
Wētere later changed sides, joined the Hauhau movement and was leader of the taua which,  
in 1869, wiped out the garrison at Pukearuhe (Whitecliffs) and took the life of Rev. Whiteley.  
(Along with Te Kooti and others, Wētere was later granted a pardon, by Act of Parliament - 
and in return, these chiefs granted what the government wanted:  
railway access through the King Country). 
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                                                                                                Taranaki Herald 16 May 1863                                                                                

Robert Parris, early New Plymouth settler, was at the time a district land commissioner  
(one of the few who never speculated in land) but it was also he who had been mainly responsible 
for the advice to the Governor Thomas Gore Browne to proceed with the controversial Waitara 
purchase in 1860. He later had a long and successful public career. 
 

Francis Dillon Bell, a well-educated and ambitious settler, had, in 1841, been Acting Secretary for 
the New Zealand Company. He also had been an advisor to Gore Browne in respect of the Waitara 
purchase, and in his lifetime held a number of important official positions, including  
(and occasionally at the same time as) being a Member of Parliament.   
He is said to have advised Grey to return the Waitara Block in 1863 (Dictionary of New Zealand 
Biography Te Ara). Like W.S. Atkinson he was a fluent speaker of Māori language. 
 

Charles Brown also appeared at the inquest. (Capt. In the Volunteers and nominally in charge of the 
Militia during the Battle of Waireka) Brown was at the time the Taranaki Provincial Superintendent. 
 

 
The inquest includes an interesting line of questioning by jurors Gledhill and Atkinson,  
regarding the question of possible blame for the ambushed party not being forewarned of danger.  
Gledhill followed this up, and his summary of the verdict, on behalf of the jury, is also of interest. 
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Appendix 7   The ambush at Poutoko, and the story of Hōri Teira 
                        As told by James Cowan 
 

An incident of 1862 (1st September) was the wreck at Te Namu, near Cape Egmont, of the steamer 
“Lord Worsley,” 600 tons, carrying passengers, mails, and gold from Nelson to New Plymouth and 
Auckland. Wiremu Kingi te Matakaatea and Eruera te Whiti (afterwards the celebrated prophet of 
Parihaka) befriended the shipwrecked people, numbering sixty, who were permitted to go overland 
to New Plymouth with their baggage, after this had been examined by the Kingite customs officers; 
each person had to pay 5s. on passing the Maori toll-gate established as the result of a large Maori 
conference at Kapoaiaia. Mr. Robert Graham, Auckland, who was a passenger, pluckily saved the 
gold that was on board, and twice traversed the hostile territory, carrying his loads safely into  
New Plymouth. A young half-caste named Hori Teira (George Taylor), who was one of the keepers of  
the toll-gate, obtained a horse for Mr. Graham and otherwise assisted him, and this act of friendship 
brought its unexpected reward in the following year, when Hori lay in prison in Auckland. 
 

Soon after Sir George Grey had succeeded Colonel Gore Browne as Governor of New Zealand, 
arriving at Auckland on the 26th September, 1862, in H.M.S. “Cossack,” from Cape Town, a new 
native policy was promulgated. A Commission had investigated the proprietary interests in  
the Waitara lands, and as the outcome of its inquiries the Governor issued, on the 11th May, 1863,  
a Proclamation announcing the abandonment of the purchase of Teira's block6 and the renunciation 
by the Government of all claims to that area of land. This tardy vindication of Wiremu Kingi's cause 
had unfortunately been preceded by the armed occupation of the Tataraimaka Block, which had 
temporarily been abandoned in 1860, and which the Maoris now claimed by right of conquest.  
Three hundred officers and men of the 57th, under Colonel Warre, marched out along the south 
road, and on the 4th April encamped on Tataraimaka, and built a redoubt on Bayley's Farm, near  
the Katikara River. The Taranaki Tribe had previously informed the Governor and General Cameron 
that Tataraimaka would not be given up unless the British first gave up the Waitara. The march upon 
Tataraimaka was naturally accepted as an act of war, and Taranaki promptly sent out appeals for 
assistance to Ngati-Ruanui and Nga-Rauru, and to Ngati-Maniapoto and Waikato; a letter was sent  
to Wiremu Kingi at Kihikihi. Five weeks elapsed before the Government made amends for the error 
of Gore Browne and his advisers, and in the meantime hostilities had commenced. 
 

The first shot in the second Taranaki campaign was fired on the 4th May, 1863.  
The Taranaki and Ngati-Ruanui planned ambuscades to cut off communications between 
Tataraimaka and New Plymouth, and warnings of these intended ambush tactics had been sent to 
the authorities in New Plymouth by friendly natives, but were lightly regarded.  
Sir George Grey was in the habit of riding out to the military post at Tataraimaka (fifteen miles from 
New Plymouth), and on the morning of the 4th May a party of thirty or forty young warriors lay in 
ambush waiting for the Governor and his party, who were expected to pass along the beach road 
that day.  Among the ambush-party was the young half-caste Hori Teira, already mentioned as one 
of the keepers of the Maori toll-gate. His father was a ship's carpenter, and his birthplace 
Kororareka, Bay of Islands. Hori was a lad of eighteen. He had been educated at the mission school, 
and had been brought down to Taranaki by his mother's people just before the war began. 
 

The ambuscade was laid on the coast just beyond the Oakura, at a place where two small streams, 
the Waimouku and the Wairau, flow down to the shingly beach. (The spot is on the farm of Captain 
Frank Mace.) Low but thick bush and brushwood grew close to the beach here, and in its cover 
between the mouths of the two streams, which are not more than 100 yards apart, the Maoris 
awaited their unsuspecting enemy.  
The Governor did not pass that day, but a small military party did.  

 
6 This is Te Teira Manuka who offered to sell the block of land at Waitara, which triggered the Taranaki War. 
    No relation to Hōri Teira (George Taylor) the subject of this story. 
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This was an escort of the 57th taking a prisoner of the regiment into New Plymouth from 
Tataraimaka. There were six soldiers, under Colour-Sergeant Ellers and Sergeant S. Hill.  
With them also were travelling two officers, Lieutenant Tragett and Assistant - Surgeon Hope, who 
were mounted. The officers were riding along the beach a little ahead of the soldiers. Young Hori 
and his companions lying in ambush let the mounted men pass by, and then fired a volley into the 
detachment of soldiers at a range of a few yards. Hori, relating the story, said that to his 
astonishment the British officers, instead of making their escape as they could easily have done, 
turned their horses and joined the soldiers, and so they, too, were shot down. Nine were killed, and 
the only man who escaped was Private Florence Kelly. A Maori named Tukino fired at one of the 
officers, Dr. Hope, and shot him in the face. Tukino immediately raised a yell of “Mate rawa!”  
(“He is killed!”) but the officer rose and confronted his enemies again. Thereupon Hori Teira  
and some of his comrades fired and shot him dead. The young half-caste rushed out to plunder  
the dead officer—his first blood, or mataika. It was the first man he had helped to slay.  
He took a watch and chain and a ring from Dr. Hope's body, and two rifles from the dead soldiers. 
 

It was a war custom among the Taranaki Maoris that any plunder or trophies taken from a foe  
whom a warrior had killed in his first battle—the “first fish”—should not be retained by the slayer, 
but should be given away to some other person in order to avert ill luck. It was inviting an aitua  
(a serious misfortune, even death) to keep the first spoils of war. So, on returning to the Maori 
headquarters, Hori was advised by the chiefs and elders to give away his war-trophies, and so 
placate the war-god. Hori insisted on wearing the watch and ring, declaring that they were too 
valuable and fine to be given away because of an old-fashioned superstition. 
 

The ill-gotten ring brought its aitua. Three weeks after the ambuscade at the Wairau a small party  
of young warriors, of whom Hori Teira was one, laid another ambuscade near the Poutoko Redoubt, 
about eight miles from New Plymouth. They attacked a mounted officer, Lieutenant Waller, of  
the 57th. His horse was hit, and both fell. Hori, imagining that the officer was mortally wounded,  
and yelling “Ki au te tupapaku!” (“Mine is the dead man!”) rushed out, dropping his rifle,  
and snatched out his short-handled tomahawk to deliver the finishing blow. But the officer was  
by no means a dead man. Jumping to his feet, he drew his revolver and fired several shots at Hori. 
One struck the young half-caste in the side. He was not seriously wounded, but he could not retreat, 
as his comrades did when a force sallied out from the redoubt. Hori was captured and identified  
as one of the Maoris who had ambushed Dr. Hope and his party. The fatal ring was on his finger,  
the watch was in his pocket, and one of the rifles was identified as Dr. Hope's. He was charged  
with murder—although in Maori eyes this ambush was thoroughly in accordance with the rules  
of war—was tried and found guilty, and sentenced to be hanged. He was taken to Auckland for 
execution, but his sentence was commuted to imprisonment for life.  
 

In prison a white man came to see him.  
This was Mr. Robert Graham, Superintendent of the Province of Auckland, the “Lord Worsley” 
passenger whom Hori had befriended on the Taranaki coast the previous year. Hori had cast his 
bread upon the waters. Mr. Graham rejoiced in the opportunity of repaying the kindness.  
He persuaded the Governor to reduce the sentence.  
Hori was released after serving four years, and he went no more upon the war-path.         
                                                      The New Zealand Wars and the Pioneering Period  Vol 1  Cowan pp 222 - 224 

 
Hori’s trial raised some interesting questions, quite apart from the question of whether it was fair to 
try him for murder in a civil court (considering that, arguably, a state of war existed at the time).  
Hori seems to have concealed the fact that he was fluent in English – and in court he gave a different 
explanation of how he came to be in possession of the rifle and watch chain which would have 
condemned him, from the more incriminating version he repeated many times later. 
(See report of court proceedings Taranaki Herald 11 July 1863 and compare with Hori’s own story in 
Taranaki Daily News 26 March 1910.) The reporter in the following article might have been misled. 
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It was strong presumptive evidence of his guilt no doubt, 

but certainly quite insufficient to convict him of a capital 

crime in a Court of Justice — more especially when it was 

remembered, as the Jury were very properly told by the 

Judge, that it was utterly impossible for the prisoner to bring 

witnesses to show how he came by the things in question. 

He could merely say that he had received them in 

accordance with an old Maori custom, which forbade the man who took spoils in war from those he 

had slain to keep or wear them until the war was ended.  
 

We wish to call attention, therefore, to the way in which his guilt was established.  

The day after his capture he was asked a great many questions by Messrs. Bell and Parris, and gave 

valuable information as to the positions and number of the enemy and without bang warned in any 

way was interrogated as to his knowledge of the massacre of the 4th May.  
 

He was asked " Did you see the first shot fired ?" — to which, according to Mr Parris, he answered  

“Kua kite, — otira kua rongo au na, &c.," which was translated " I saw it, — or rather I heard it was 

fired by so and so." Some time after, when the ring and locket were found, Mr Parris said to him  

"We have found some more things belonging to Dr Hope near where you were hid, and think you 

must have been concerned in killing him. How could you have helped to kill a man that treated you so 

kindly?" [Dr Hope had dressed his hand a few days before the murder at the Tataraimaka camp.] He 

answered "Ko wai ka mohio — kua repo katoa," which was translated to mean "Who could know him 

when covered with dirt?” In both cases the translation only was given in Court instead of the original 

Maori words with the context. The translation may, and probably does, fairly represent the prisoner's 

meaning, but there is at least a possibility that it does not, and this possibility should have been 

carefully examined.  
 

If the life of a man is to depend on the meaning of an expression made use of in an unguarded 

moment, it is clear that the expression itself should be cited, and not merely the witness's notion  

of the meaning of it. However, the possession of the watch and other things and the use of the two 

expressions we have quoted was held sufficient evidence- of his guilt, and Hori was convicted of 

murder. With regard to the latter class of evidence (what he himself said before his trial without 

having been warned that it would be used against him) the Chief Justice said more than once that ‘he 

was bound to accept it as evidence, but to get evidence in such a way was quite alien to the spirit of 

English law’.  
 

We hope the Government will profit by the rebuke and not again in important judicial proceedings set 

the example of acting in opposition to the spirit of the law. With regard to Mr Parris we are certain 

that he did not ask the last question of the prisoner with any thought that the latter's answer would be 

used against him.  
 

We believe there are few or none who doubt Hori's guilt, but there are many we believe who doubt the 

legal evidence of it. And though he may have been justly condemned, it is hardly according to 

English, practice when the accused cannot call a single witness on his own side — when he does not 

understand the language, much less the proceedings of the Court he is tried in, and the interpreter fails 

to make things much clearer to him — when he is practically, though not nominally, undefended, and 

when the jury is drawn from among those against whom he has been fighting…  
 

... we believe it was pre-determined not to carry out the capital sentence… Taranaki Herald  11 July 1863                                                                                                                                           
 

 

Hōri Teira in later years. Teira told his own story to the Taranaki Daily News on 
two occasions (26 March 1910 and 26 June 1911) and in addition it is most likely 
that Cowan would have interviewed him when researching the above piece. 
 

After Hōri Terira’s release, R. Parris persuaded him to join the Native Police.  
When land grants were allocated, Teira was allotted 140 acres which he farmed  
for many years, as recorded by Dr. Erin Griffin, in Tales of Te Namu and Hori Teira. 

              Photo cropped from image by Swainson Studios, collection of Puke Ariki, (SW1944.2116) 
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Appendix 8   The Taranaki Report Kaupapa Tuatahi 
 

The ambush at Wairau is portrayed in the photograph on page 57 as a “massacre”, and by  
The Taranaki Herald as a “barbarous” act of rebellion and the cause of a war.  
Settler-historian Benjamin Wells also, in his History of Taranaki opens his chapter on  
“The Renewal of Hostilities” with a detailed account of the ambush. 
 

Today the event, and its context, are seen somewhat differently.  
Nothing has been left to us of the Māori perspective at the time, but we can be certain that neither 
The Taranaki Herald nor Wells’ History of Taranaki is any reflection of it.  
 

Here is an extract from the Taranaki Report to the Treaty of Waitangi Tribunal.  
It is not a history (rather, it is one side of a legal debate) and it makes only one reference  
to Waireka and/or surrounding districts.  
 

This reference to Waireka is based entirely on a secondary source:  
the somewhat questionable analysis of the Battle of Waireka by James Belich.   
Perhaps it was convenient for the authors of the Report to lean on The New Zealand Wars and the 
Victorian Interpretation of Racial Conflict, with its pre-supposed conclusions of British military 
incompetence.  James Belich reduced the Battle of Waireka to a witticism (“…the 70-150 warriors 
said to be killed numbered in fact about one…”)  which primary sources show to be incorrect  
on both counts.7 Unfortunately Belich robbed the authors of the Report by consigning to oblivion  
their ancestors who were lost in the battle. In fact, at least 10 of them were named in the 
newspaper the next day and another seven a week later (Taranaki Herald 7 April 1860).   
The best attempts to clinically analyse the losses suggests there were probably more.  
After careful consideration archaeologist Nigel Prickett concluded: 
 

“Without more information we can only put the true figure at certainly more than 17.  
It is possibly as many as 40…  …Nor should we discount Captain Brown’s “careful” estimate of not 
less than 30 dead.”   
Prickett, N. (2005) Maori Casualties of the First Taranaki War, 1860–61”  Auckland Museum 42:81–124   p.91 
 

That said, and moving on from that one small battle – this Māori perspective on the commencement 
of hostilities, given below, demands consideration in order to put into perspective the self-serving 
analyses of the Taranaki Herald and the colonial historians and diarists of that time. 
 

(Note: “Pekapeka” refers to the disputed land purchase at Waitara.) 
 

4.4 RESUMPTION OF WAR  

The events leading to the resumption of warfare in Taranaki need analysis, because it is only 

on the second war that the land confiscations were based. We summarise the events as 

follows:  

(a) With the negotiation of a truce in Taranaki, British troops retained Pekapeka and 

some Waitara Maori land, but as a set-off, and pending an inquiry, southern hapu held 

Omata and Tataraimaka.  

(b) Before any inquiry as to Pekapeka was made, as had been promised, on 12 March 

1863, British troops occupied Omata and on 4 April they moved on to Tataraimaka. 

 
7 The official estimate from the British Navy of the number Māori lost at Kaipopo when it was over-run, as  

     counted, is 16 (Cracroft to Loring reprinted in London Gazette 3 August 1860 p2857).  
     A less reliable official estimate of the number lost the same day, near Jury’s farmhouse, is 30 (Capt. Brown i/c Taranaki  
     Militia to Major  Herbert 29 March 1860). The only Māori eye-witness estimate which has emerged is, interestingly,  
     from Te Ua Horapapera (later, founder of the Pai Mārire movement.) Te Ua was present at the battle.  
     According Te Ua “… altogether, including those who afterwards died of their wounds, twenty seven were      

     slain…” (Daily Southern Cross 16 March 1866). 17 of the dead were named in Taranaki Herald 7 April 1860. 
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There is no evidence of any provocation. It will be observed … that these two blocks 

were separate and that it was necessary to cross Maori land to move from one to the 

other.  

(c) At the same time as the troops were directed to move, Ministers and officials were 

discussing proposals to confiscate Maori land to pay for the war.  

(d) Two days later, the Governor purported to investigate the Pekapeka purchase and 

found what he called ‘new facts’. Of course they were well known before. It was 

‘found’, however, that Kingi had a pa and cultivations on the block, that Te Teira did 

not have an undisputed title, and that the purchase, despite an initial payment, had not 

been completed. It was then agreed that Pekapeka was not Crown land after all.  

(e) Though it was then decided that the land must be returned, the Governor delayed 

saying so. It was not until 22 April that his decision was conveyed to his Ministers. 

They in turn delayed a fortnight further before doing anything8. It seems no one was 

prepared to announce this unpalatable fact to the settlers, to admit wrong to Maori, or 

to do anything that might defer the military resumption of Omata and Tataraimaka.  

(f) At all times, Maori were unaware of anything other than the military activities south 

of New Plymouth. At Taiporohenui, they debated the Government’s breach of the 

truce by the reoccupation of Omata and Tataraimaka and the trespass of troops on the 

Maori land between. They appear to have decided to respond. On 4 May, a month 

after the military had reoccupied Tataraimaka, a military escort was ambushed on 

Maori land at Oakura, between Omata and Tataraimaka, and nine soldiers were killed. 

The ambush, it will be noted, was against soldiers on Maori land. It could be said, in 

Maori terms, that the soldiers were in error, for they were caught where they should 

not have been, and that their trespass was a provocation. Indeed, it is likely that Maori 

saw the trespass on Maori land as more significant than the resumption of Omata. 

Even before the war, Maori had become acutely conscious of the need to maintain 

boundaries where Europeans were concerned, and to enforce recognition of their 

ownership, they had imposed a toll on Europeans crossing the area.  

(g) That same night, as soon as they were informed of the ambush, the Ministers agreed 

to renounce the Waitara purchase. They also decided that the land between Omata and 

Tataraimaka that belonged to the party who had carried out the ambush should be 

confiscated by the Crown in retaliation and should become a military settlement. They 

further advised the Governor to summon a meeting of Te Atiawa at Waitara to issue a 

declaration of the Government’s decision:  
That circumstances connected with the purchase of Waitara having come to light which made it, 
in the opinion of Government, inadvisable to complete the purchase, the government are willing 
and ready to restore the Waitara to its former owners, and to publish a general amnesty for all 
former offences; on condition that those engaged in the late insurrection should absolutely 
separate themselves from the Southern tribes and leave the punishment of the late murders 
entirely in the hands of the Governor.  

If they failed to comply and assisted the southern tribes:  
the whole of their own land at Waitara will be declared forfeited in like manner as the territory 
between Omata and Tataraimaika.  

(h) At the same time, politicians were proposing larger confiscations throughout 

Taranaki, south Auckland, Hauraki, and Waikato9. 

 
8 Sinclair, pp 260-266; Dalton, pp 165-171 89 
9 See ‘Memorandum on the Native Question by the Superintendent of Taranaki and Correspondence’,  

2 May 1863, AJHR, 1863, E-18, p 1.  
By June 1863, there were detailed plans to confiscate the Ōākura land:    see ‘Papers Relative to Waitara’,  

    AJHR, 1863, E-2, pp 20-21.          See also Domett to Governor, 24 June 1863, AJHR, E-7, p 9.    
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(i)  On 11 May, Grey issued a proclamation abandoning the Waitara purchase and all 

claims on it by the Government10. 

(j) A proclamation on 6 July 1863 notified an intention to survey settlements at Oakura 

and to place military settlers in possession of sections in return for military services11.  

This was the first formal notice of a confiscation intent.  

At that time, no empowering legislation was in place.  

(k) On 3 December 1863, the General Assembly enacted the legislation for the 

confiscation of Maori land. The Taranaki confiscations were then proclaimed in 1865.  
 

The retraction in respect of Pekapeka was amazing in light of the tragedy of the previous war 

and startling for its omissions and timing. The question of whether land could be sold without 

a general hapu agreement was not considered. Instead, legislation (the Native Land Act 1862) 

had already been passed to enable land to be sold without tribal consent and control. The 

retraction blatantly avoided an honest inquiry into who was to blame for the war and gave no 

thought to compensating Maori. The retraction was also made after the Oakura ambush and 

the resumption of hostilities. If it were true that Maori had held the southern blocks as a quid 

pro quo for Pekapeka, pending its return, and if the abandonment of Pekapeka had been 

announced beforehand, the ambush might not have happened. In a touch of irony, Pekapeka 

was confiscated two years later on the basis that Kingi was at war, although there is no 

evidence that he had engaged in hostilities since the resumption of the war.  
 

The retraction, it seems to us, was simply play-acting; the fabrication of a scene to place 

blame on the former Governor, so that the new Governor might restart the war with a clean 

slate.  
 

We can thus reach some conclusions on the resumption of the war. The Government contends 

that the second war dated from the Oakura ambush of 4 May, a view that posits Maori as the 

aggressors and responsible for the second war. That position has long been regarded as 

untenable. The second war arose from the Government’s breach of the peace, the failure to 

inquire promptly and honestly into Pekapeka, the military reoccupation of Omata and 

Tataraimaka, and the military trespass on Maori land. These were hostile acts, in our view, 

which were undertaken during the truce and which could have implied only that the war had 

been unilaterally resumed. They were contrary to the honest conduct expected under the 

principles of the Treaty of Waitangi.  
 

Our conclusion is thus similar to that reached by the Sim commission in 1927, which 

apportioned no blame to Maori for the outbreak of the second war but saw it as a continuation 

of the first. That commission went further to observe that ‘the armed occupation of 

Tataraimaika was, in the circumstances, a declaration of war against the Natives, and [it] 

forced them into the position of rebels12’.                    
                                                                       The Taranaki Report Kaupapa Tuatahi  GP Publications   pp 88-91 

 
 
The full Taranaki Report may be accessed on-line. The URL is: 
 
https://forms.justice.govt.nz/search/Documents/WT/wt_DOC_68453721/Taranaki%201996.compressed.pdf 
 

 

 
10 Proclamation, 11 May 1863, published in the New Zealand Gazette, 15 May 1863, AJHR, E-2, p 27 
11 New Zealand Gazette, 1863, no 27, p 265 
12 AJHR, 1928, G-7, p 11 
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Appendix 9      Lists of Ōmata, Tapuae and Tātaraimaka settlers  1860         
                                                                                           Extracted from Taranaki Herald 18 February 1860 
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Extracted from Taranaki Herald 
6 April 1861 
 
 
 

Settler homes from Ōmata, 
Tapuae and Tātaraimaka  
have been extracted here,  
from the newspaper’s list  
of all homesteads burned in 
Taranaki. 
 

Referring to the list of all homes 
in New Plymouth,  
the newspaper noted: 
 

“The Juror’s list for the Province 
of Taranaki does not show 
more than 212 Country Settlers 
who have houses in the 
country; of these 176 have 
been totally destroyed by the 
rebels. Those houses that are 
left standing are so chopped 
and broken to pieces, doors 
windows, lining boards, and,  
in some cases, the upright 
boarding taken away, that the 
houses are almost as much 
injured as if burned”. 
 

Some settler names do not 
appear here.  
For example: W. I. Grayling  
living on rented property.  
Grayling was renting from  
F. Greaves who has claimed for 
two properties. 
 

The official list indexed in 
Grayling’s book   
The War in Taranaki 1860-61 
differs somewhat from this list 
taken from the newspaper –  
eg. Grayling’s is listed there. 
 
 

Distances quoted from “nearest 
military post” seem to be 
incorrect in some cases,  
on both lists. 
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Grayling recorded (in his diary, 18 August 1860) a suspicion that Autridge’s house was burned by the 
military.  J. Crompton and F. Greaves also later submitted sworn statements to the Commission that 
their houses had been destroyed by the military. (National Archives Series 132 Taranaki Relief Funds) 
 

Mrs. Jury’s house (although listed as “burned by the rebels”) may have been damaged,  
but was actually used by them as a field hospital. (The Budget 10 July 1897).   
It was probably destroyed by the military. 
 

Rev. Gilbert’s house was not burned, but its weatherboarding was taken by Māori  
for the construction of covered rifle pits at Wilkinson’s. (Taranaki Herald 18 August 1860). 
(Not for palisading Kaipopo in March 1860, as some people have imagined.) 

                                                                                                   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Brighton Place, Ōmata, the residence of Thomas Gilbert.    
 
The above is a romanticised illustration of Rev. Thomas Gilbert’s house, prior to the war, 
taken from Gilbert’s book New Zealand Soldiers and Settlers (1861). 
This (and the other illustrations in the book) were attributed by Gilbert “to an English gentleman and 
to Miss Nicholson”. It is thought that Miss Maria Nicholson (governess to the children of Gilbert’s 
neighbour Parson Brown) made the original drawings, which were then “improved” by the 
publishers in England, to make them look more like English cottages and gardens. 

 
Cropped from a drawing made in 
1863 by his son George Channing 
Gilbert showing the home of Rev. 
Thomas Gilbert, after it had been 
stripped of weatherboard  
in August 1860.  
 

Gilbert, George Channing, 1838–1913. 
[Gilbert, George Channing]  
1838–1913 :[Brighton Place, the home 
of the Rev Thomas Gilbert, Ōmata, 
New Plymouth] 1863. Ref: A–263–016. 
Alexander Turnbull Library, Wellington, 
New Zealand. /records/23058873 
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                                                                                                                                             (From the collection of Len Jury) 

Gilbert’s statement of losses, sworn 30th July 1860 in Nelson.  
Buildings, orchard, imported trees and shrubs, cows, sheep, potatoes (removed by Militia), garden 
and carpenters’ tools, farming implements, 25 boxes of bees and apiary….  
 
Values (revised) to a total of £548–5–0 
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Appendix 10  The Battle of Waireka    28 March 1860 
 
Much nonsense has been written about the Battle of Waireka in recent years, little of it based on 
first-hand primary source material and a lot of it merely following the pre-supposed conclusion of 
James Belich in his 1986 landmark work The New Zealand Wars and the Victorian Interpretation… 
 

Speaking strictly in regard to the plain narrative of the fight itself, no historian so far has made any 
useful addition to the information contained in the three official reports which were written at the 
time by Lieutenant Colonel Murray (British Army), Captain Charles Brown (Taranaki Militia)  
and Captain Peter Cracroft (Royal Navy). 
 

Within these three reports is found most of the truth of what happened as far as we will probably  
be able to determine. And these three independent reports not only mesh together quite well,  
they also agree pretty much with the main body of eye witness accounts at the time.  
Hardly surprising since there were many witnesses, the reports were intended to be made public, 
and the Officers knew they would have been under oath in the event of any investigation. 
 

Together the three official reports spell out the plan.  
Objective: to rescue some families who had become isolated behind “enemy” lines. 
The Regulars were to secure the South Road and wait, while the Colonials were to take the beach 
route, fetch the beleaguered families, and return along the South Road, linking up with the Regulars 
as escort on their return to New Plymouth (which was intended to be before nightfall). 
 

Together the three reports provide a clear enough picture of how the engagement began,  
how it played out in the gullies and flats around John Jury’s farmhouse,  
and how the military became engaged on the town side of the gullies.  
How the Regulars withdrew, leaving the Colonials to make a retreat, unassisted.  
How the Navy arrived on the scene late in the day, took the defenders by surprise,  
stormed the Maori defensive works and came away with the Māori flags. 
 

The reports enable the conclusion that the Navy had created a diversion, turning what might have 
been a serious defeat further down in the flats and gullies into a “close call” which, at best,  
might be construed as a victory, though a lucky one if so. 
 

There were up to 300 British and up to perhaps up to 450 Māori in the field at any one time.  
There were 2 killed and 14 wounded on the British side.  
The official estimates of Māori losses were 30+ killed in the gullies (two confirmed) and  
16+ killed at Kaipopo (counted). The total number of wounded has not been estimated.  
 

The Māori at Kaipopo retreated immediately after that action, leaving their casualties behind. 
The three British forces also withdrew immediately, taking their casualties with them. 
 

Each of the three reports expressed some satisfaction, but none used the word “victory.” 
 

Not in the three official reports, but recorded within the next few days:  
 

The British failed to follow up immediately. 
 

The Māori were able to return the next day to bury some of their dead, and then to depart with the 
remainder of their casualties, taking considerable plunder with them. 
 

The names of 24 of the Māori casualties (including 17 fatal) were published the day after the battle. 
 

The Māori fighting force which had come up from the south and threatened the town now retired – 
at least for the time being. 
 

An exhaustive compilation of the primary source material relating to this event is reproduced, 
verbatim, in G. Kenyon (2016) The Battle of Waireka, An Anthology of Eye-Witness Accounts.                                                    
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